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INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS LEGISLATION AMENDMENT BILL 2021 
Second Reading 

Resumed from an earlier stage of the sitting. 

HON NICK GOIRAN (South Metropolitan) [5.09 pm]: We are considering the Industrial Relations Legislation 
Amendment Bill 2021. I am the lead speaker on behalf of the opposition in my capacity as the shadow Minister for 
Industrial Relations. Most of my remarks on this second reading debate were made prior to the interruption for the 
taking of questions without notice, but I indicated prior to that time to the Minister for Industrial Relations that I would 
shortly be moving to have the bill discharged and referred to the Standing Committee on Legislation. Before I do 
that, I want to reiterate some of the concerns that remain for the opposition, some of which are already on the record 
from the fortieth Parliament.  
The government and this minister know that the opposition does not oppose the core policy objective of this bill; 
that is, to amend Western Australia’s industrial relations law to assist the federal government in eradicating forced 
labour through the ratification of the International Labour Organization’s Protocol of 2014 to the Forced Labour 
Convention, 1930. Our concerns and the amendments that sit on the supplementary notice paper, issue 2, which 
is available to members, do not in any way undermine our federal Liberal government’s repeated requests to 
the McGowan government to bring our industrial relations laws into line in order to remove the barrier our laws 
create at present to Australia’s ratification of this important international protocol. Nevertheless, concerns remain 
and they warrant inquiry. As I indicated earlier, they go to the extent of the consultation that has occurred since 
the fortieth Parliament and the Industrial Relations Legislation Amendment Bill 2020. Secondly, they go to the 
government’s broken undertaking pertaining to clause 65. Thirdly, there is the point of the unique, for the first time 
in Western Australian law, ability for unionists to enter a person’s home. Fourthly, there are concerns from the 
Western Australian Local Government Association about the government forcing local governments to fall under 
the state industrial relations system. Fifthly, the legislation will allow the commission to intervene in private sector 
awards. Prior to the taking of questions without notice, I did not have the opportunity to unpack that and I will do 
it momentarily. It goes to the issue of varying private sector awards and their scope. The first part of these changes 
have their genesis in the Ritter review, which was commissioned by the government in the last Parliament. It 
recommended that there be an attempt to avoid awards not keeping pace with new industries and where named 
employers to the award changed structure or ceased to exist. The proposed amendments in the bill attempt to mirror 
the provisions of section 143 of the commonwealth Fair Work Act. However, the bill also includes a provision 
to allow the commission to vary the scope of a private sector award of its own motion. This peculiar new clause 
overturns the accepted concept of collective and good faith bargaining as the basis for Australia’s industrial relations 
system. It allows the commission some extraordinary interventionist powers that are not mirrored at the federal 
level. This was not recommended by the Ritter review. It is quite telling, in fact, that this power that will be enshrined 
or implemented by the bill will apply to only private sector awards and not public sector or enterprise awards. The 
opposition is concerned about that and would like it to be inquired into and recommendations made, particularly 
given that it was not the subject of a recommendation from the review that this government relies on as a foundation 
stone for the bill before us. 
Speaking of intervention, what has also transpired since the last bill was before us in the fortieth Parliament and 
the bill that is currently before us, has been a moment of intervention by the Attorney General. I will not say that 
it was an extraordinary intervention, but it was certainly intervention nonetheless and I do not think that is disputed 
by the Attorney General or anyone within government. Recently, the Attorney General sought to intervene, and 
he intervened successfully, in an unfair dismissal case being considered. The basis for the intervention was said 
to be to uphold the rule of law and the correct interpretation of the law—specifically, concerns were raised that 
the Public Service Appeal Board had initiated or sent out summonses with regard to witnesses. The view of some 
individuals was that the board, or specifically the registrar, did not have the power to do that. That was certainly the 
view of the State Solicitor’s Office that then prevailed upon the Attorney General to intervene in the case. He did 
intervene and successfully obtained a ruling confirming that there was no such power with the board or the registrar. 
I take no issue—as I did not at the time when there were reports of this occurring—with the Attorney General rightly 
intervening when there is an apparent lack of following of the rule of law. However, given that the Attorney General 
successfully identified this problem or loophole that would see some workers in Western Australia treated differently 
from other workers—some workers would be able to have a witness summons issued but others would not—and 
given that the government would no doubt want consistency for all workers and it would not want some workers 
to be first-class citizens and others to be second-class citizens, I cannot imagine the McGowan Labor government 
wanting to see some workers stranded in an unfair dismissal case without the ability to issue a witness summons. 
There is an amendment on the supplementary notice paper standing in my name that would fix the problem and 
the loophole that the Attorney General has successfully identified. It is ironic that the only disadvantage that I can 
see at this point in this bill being discharged and referred to the Standing Committee on Legislation is that it would 
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have the effect of the member for Kwinana not having to face the music before the Public Service Appeals Board 
until 15 February, when Parliament resumes. If the government were to support the opposition’s request that this 
matter be considered by the Standing Committee on Legislation, all these matters and concerns could be inquired into 
and the Standing Committee on Legislation, which I understand is currently not overburdened with work, would 
have the opportunity to make some findings and recommendations on this. However, regrettably it would mean that 
the member for Kwinana would not be able to be summonsed in that unfair dismissal case until 15 February. I think 
that would be a shame, but it would be one of the disadvantages of this bill being referred to the Standing Committee 
on Legislation. We have to make a judgement call there, but at the end of the day the Legislative Council needs to 
fulfil its scrutiny role first and foremost, so that will need to take precedence. That said, if the government is of the 
view that all workers should be treated as first-class citizens—that there not be any first and second-class citizens—
and that the member for Kwinana needs to face the music on the unfair dismissal case and it wants to support the 
opposition’s amendment standing in my name on the supplementary notice paper, there is also the opportunity to do 
that. However, it would be outrageous if the McGowan government were to force this bill to pass through Parliament 
in the next 24 hours without it either going to the Standing Committee on Legislation or any of the amendments 
on the supplementary notice paper being supported, particularly when one is going to fix the very issue the 
Attorney General has so helpfully drawn to everybody’s attention, which sees the member for Kwinana currently 
being shielded from having to provide any evidence in an unfair dismissal case. Either way, the opposition seeks 
the support of the government.  

Discharge of Order and Referral to Standing Committee on Legislation — Motion 
HON NICK GOIRAN (South Metropolitan) [5.21 pm] — without notice: I move — 

That the Industrial Relations Legislation Amendment Bill 2021 be discharged and referred to the Standing 
Committee on Legislation for consideration and report by no later than 15 February 2022. 

HON STEPHEN DAWSON (Mining and Pastoral — Minister for Industrial Relations) [5.22 pm]: The 
government will not support this amendment. It is outrageous for the honourable member to suggest that there has 
been no consultation in the lead-up to this bill because, as everybody knows, hours and hours of consultation has 
occurred in two reviews. The ministerial review received a total of 122 submissions and held 44 face-to-face meetings 
with stakeholders, and the wage theft inquiry received 119 submissions in addition to face-to-face meetings. Following 
the completion of those reviews, the government announced its intended responses and drafted the bill accordingly. 
The government has subsequently consulted on the provisions of the bill with key stakeholders, and this included 
the Western Australian Local Government Association. The government wants to progress the important findings of 
the ministerial review and the inquiry into wage theft. Those who are suffering wage theft need reforms now; those 
domestic workers with no employment rights whatsoever need reforms now. 
I juxtapose this with the Barnett government that paid in excess of $800 000 for the Amendola review in 2009. That 
report was never acted upon. That government then introduced a green bill in 2012, and again nothing happened. 
We want to get on with modernising our state industrial relations system and protecting the most vulnerable workers 
in this state. 
In relation to modern slavery, the process for ratifying the protocol to the Forced Labour Convention began for the 
Western Australian government in 2016. We brought forward the last bill to get rid of the exemptions in the act, 
as is needed. We could not get that bill passed through the last Parliament. We should not delay this any longer. 
We need to make sure it is completed. We have advised the federal IR minister, who has indicated her support for 
the passage of these critical changes. 
Another reason we should not prolong this and send the bill off to the Standing Committee on Legislation is that 
we have made an election commitment to recognise the significance of Easter Sunday under industrial relations 
entitlements. This cannot wait; we are committed to introducing the Easter Sunday provision in 2022. Holding up 
the passage of this legislation and sending this bill, which has in a very large part been around since 2020, to the 
Standing Committee on Legislation is simply unnecessary and we will not support this referral.  

Division 
Question put and a division taken, the Acting President (Hon Steve Martin) casting his vote with the ayes, with 
the following result — 

Ayes (6) 

Hon Martin Aldridge Hon Nick Goiran Hon Neil Thomson  
Hon Donna Faragher Hon Steve Martin Hon Colin de Grussa (Teller)  
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Noes (20) 

Hon Klara Andric Hon Peter Foster Hon Kyle McGinn Hon Matthew Swinbourn 
Hon Dan Caddy Hon Lorna Harper Hon Sophia Moermond Hon Dr Sally Talbot 
Hon Sandra Carr Hon Jackie Jarvis Hon Shelley Payne Hon Dr Brian Walker 
Hon Stephen Dawson Hon Alannah MacTiernan Hon Stephen Pratt Hon Darren West 
Hon Sue Ellery Hon Ayor Makur Chuot Hon Martin Pritchard Hon Pierre Yang (Teller) 

            

Pairs 

Hon Peter Collier Hon Samantha Rowe 
Hon Tjorn Sibma Hon Rosie Sahanna 
Hon Dr Steve Thomas Hon Kate Doust 

Question thus negatived. 
Second Reading Resumed 

HON NEIL THOMSON (Mining and Pastoral) [5.26 pm]: I rise to speak to this Industrial Relations Legislation 
Amendment Bill 2021. In speaking to this bill, I reiterate the opposition’s support for its core objective, which is 
to assist the federal government to ratify the Protocol of 2014 to the Forced Labour Convention, 1930. It is outlined 
as one of the objectives of the bill. It is a noble objective, and I think across the world right now there is a huge 
surge of interest in the issue of forced labour. Not a person in this room would in any way want to be a facilitator of 
forced labour by any means, including through neglecting to make changes that might be required in the legislative 
framework or the laws governing industrial relations in Western Australia for those workers who fall within the 
ambit of the Industrial Relations Act. I hope that every person in this state would be very seriously concerned if 
there were any chance of forced labour occurring in Western Australia. That goes to the ethical issue at the core of 
this objective, and I congratulate the government for taking action on that. The core objective is very clear. However, 
we have an unusual circumstance in Western Australia in that we might be passing a bill containing changes that 
would ratify the International Labour Organization’s Protocol of 2014 to the Forced Labour Convention, 1930, 
but, at the same time, an arm of our government—namely, the Minister for Transport—is engaging in actions with 
contractors about whom allegations have been made by our closest ally, the United States, about their links to 
forced labour. This is a very serious concern. It is a moral issue. It is morally unacceptable for our Western Australian 
workforce to be exposed to forced labour, as it is morally unacceptable for the Western Australian government to 
turn a blind eye to the issue of forced labour beyond our shores. This issue requires much more scrutiny. I have 
spoken about this in this place before and I will continue to speak about this issue because action must be taken. 
It may require further action on our procurement policies, which is not a matter that concerns this bill, but it is 
related because it is the same objective that is in this bill. 
A lot of good work is going on at the national level to combat the issue of forced labour. Recently, the Australian 
Human Rights Commission published information supporting businesses to combat modern slavery. This is 
something that could be considered in regulations or possibly in relation to this bill. Certainly, I hope that by speaking 
today it will be considered in and around the state government’s procurement policies. The guides are available 
for a range of sectors, including the construction sector; indeed, I have a list of the sectors here somewhere. One is 
related to the sector about which I have raised concerns—that is, the construction of our Metronet railcars. The guides 
highlight the modern slavery risk prevalence in different sectors, provide tips for each sector on leading practice 
and a rights-based approach to managing modern slavery risk, and foster transparent modern slavery reporting for 
the benefit of business, government and people at risk of harm. I know that the Minister for Industrial Relations 
has the right intent here, but perhaps he can have a conversation with his colleagues in cabinet on this matter. As was 
mentioned by my colleague Hon Nick Goiran, rather outrageous accusations were made by the former Minister for 
Industrial Relations, Hon Bill Johnston. Making outrageous comments does not help, particularly when a company 
involved in a $1.3 billion contract has links to an organisation that is banned by our closest ally. 
Some assurances were given by the minister after some questioning, but those assurances are only as deep as the 
assurances that were given by the head contractor—in this case, Alstom. There is an ability to provide statements; 
in fact, there is a requirement for companies making more than $100 million a year to provide statements on slave 
labour. This is managed by the Australian Border Force, which has an online register for modern slavery statements. 
I again strongly counsel the Minister for Industrial Relations, in the consideration of his remit, to familiarise himself, 
if he has not already, with the register of modern slavery statements and their content. There is mandatory reporting 
for these businesses. In fact, as I speak, 2 660 businesses are on that register. Maybe there was an opportunity within 
the scope of this bill to better align our industrial relations regime to some of the matters that would be expected 
in such a statement. I am not in a position to say whether that is the case, but I believe it is a very important point 
to make. We are seeing a situation in which, as far as I can tell, KTK Group is certainly not on that register. I will 
make further representations on this matter in the future; I am not going to resile from it, because I think it is a vital 
issue for consideration. 
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We may ask: what relevance does it have to the employment conditions of people in Western Australia? I would 
say there is moral relevance; that is the first issue, which is the basis of this bill. The second matter I want to raise is 
that this group is going to establish a manufacturing plant in Western Australia, and that was identified only through 
a freedom of information request. I will quote from a selection of documents that was provided to me and dated 
23 December 2020. I have previously spoken at length on this issue, both in an adjournment statement and outside 
this place. KTK Group will actually be an employer and will no doubt be subject to the provisions of this bill, if it 
becomes law. I referred in my adjournment statement to the ability to direct Alstom to utilise Australian suppliers, 
which was ignored by the minister. I refer to the second point from the same email — 

2. Likely Increase In WA Content if KTK Not Used — 
Again, another name is blanked out in the email as being out of ambit, so I cannot read that — 

… indicated that because KTK are going to open a Perth facility their WA content was going to be high 
anyway and so it will be a struggle to get their WA content contract requirement with alternative suppliers. 
They have identified a number of WA companies that can be involved in some way in assisting them to 
get their contractual WA content but — 

There is another blanked out bit there — 
… was reluctant to commit to more WA content given the difficulty in achieving their contractual content 
without KTK.  

This is a very intriguing aspect. It relates to this bill because this company is likely to set up and operate a facility 
in Western Australia; a company that is banned in the United States. I cannot say with certainty that it should operate 
here, but I have yet to hear the minister express with any degree of certainty why he is sure that the assurances given 
by Alstom are sufficient. There has been no inquiry. I have called for an inquiry because there needs to be an inquiry 
and a thorough assessment on this in line with the principles outlined by the Equal Opportunity Commission. There 
needs to be an inquiry and an assurance given that when this group is established in Western Australia, it will operate 
within the terms of this bill. That is putting aside the issue of morality. I say that this issue is relevant to this bill 
because morality is at the core of this bill. I have raised this question previously and I will continue to raise it. The 
government needs to take a stand on its principles, deal with this issue and review and provide proper evidence for 
why it has chosen this supplier over Western Australian suppliers. How can it morally justify this matter? 
HON STEPHEN DAWSON (Mining and Pastoral — Minister for Industrial Relations) [5.40 pm] — in reply: 
I was not sure whether other members wanted to make a contribution to the Industrial Relations Legislation Amendment 
Bill 2021. I thank Hon Nick Goiran for his contribution and acknowledge the contribution of Hon Neil Thomson. 
I will try to address some of the issues that were raised, knowing that Hon Nick Goiran will have the opportunity 
to quiz me further in Committee of the Whole should I not give him what he believes to be fulsome enough answers. 
I spoke about the consultation earlier in response to the amendment to send this bill to a committee. As I said, the 
genesis of this bill has been a long time coming. There was a ministerial review into the state industrial relations 
system and an inquiry into wage theft. As I said, and as I have indicated previously, hours and hours of consultation 
occurred on those two reviews. For the ministerial review, 122 submissions were provided and 44 face-to-face 
meetings were held with stakeholders. For the wage theft inquiry, 119 submissions were provided in addition 
to the face-to-face meetings. Following the completion of the reviews, the government announced its intended 
response and it drafted the bill accordingly. The government subsequently consulted on the provisions of the 
bill with key stakeholders. The honourable member was quite right to point out that the vast majority of the detail 
of the bill was included in a previous bill. When I took over the role earlier this year, it was my job to include the 
election commitments that were made at the last election. We had conversations with key stakeholders about those. 
Although not everyone has been happy about the inclusion of the provisions, the conversations were had and the 
consultation occurred. 
It is perplexing that the opposition does not support Western Australian local governments being regulated by 
Western Australian laws rather than commonwealth laws. We believe that local governments are part of the body 
politic of the state. They are entrusted with carrying out public functions; therefore, it is entirely appropriate that 
they be regulated by the state industrial relations system rather than the national system. I encourage opposition 
members to read the comprehensive analysis in the 2018 Ministerial review of the state industrial relations system: 
Final report regarding the constitutional status of local governments. There is significant legal doubt whether local 
governments can be regulated by the commonwealth using the corporations power of the Constitution. That is 
the power that underpins the Fair Work Act. If local governments can be regulated by the corporations power, the 
commonwealth could legislate to regulate a wide range of affairs of local governments, including the services they 
provide, the rates and fees they levy and the electoral system they use to elect members. This, in my book, would 
be an undesirable outcome, and I am not sure whether most Western Australians would support it. 
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The bill proposes a managed transition of local governments from the national industrial relations system to the 
state system. Upon moving to the state system, a modern award enterprise agreement that applied to local government 
under the Fair Work Act will continue to apply in the state system for a maximum nominal period of two years. 
This will give local government employers sufficient time to adapt to the state system.  
Members should also be reminded of section 7A of the Salaries and Allowances Act 1975, which provides for the 
determination of the remuneration of chief executive officers of local governments by the Salaries and Allowances 
Tribunal. This was inserted into the act in 2012 by the former Barnett Liberal government with the full support of 
the Western Australian Local Government Association. If the Parliament of Western Australia is the appropriate 
place to pass laws to regulate the employment conditions of chief executive officers of local governments, I think 
logic demands that other local government employees be similarly regulated by state laws. 
In the previous Parliament, the opposition claimed that providing the Western Australian Industrial Relations 
Commission with the power to vary the scope of private sector awards would corrupt its very independence. 
I disagree. I think that the claim certainly demonstrates an ignorance of the powers the commission currently has, 
and has had since 1925, under the Industrial Relations Act to vary awards and issue orders of its own motion. 
Section 50A is the head of power under which the commission issues the state wage general order of its own motion 
every year. The commission and its precursor, the Court of Arbitration, has had the power since 1925 to issue an 
order setting a minimum wage each year. Assuming the Court of Arbitration and the commission have issued an 
order every year, this would equate to 96 minimum wage orders. 
Section 50 is the head of power under which the commission issues general orders of its own motion relating to 
any industrial matter. Under section 50, the commission issues the location allowance general order each year and 
it also used section 50 last year to issue the COVID-19 JobKeeper general order. 
Section 40B is the head of power under which the commission issues orders of its own motion to vary awards for 
specific reasons. It has had this power since 2002. The commission advises that it has issued 65 orders of its own 
motion pursuant to section 40B since 2004. Clearly, the commission has used its powers to issue orders of its own 
motion and the sky has not fallen in, so I think it would be ridiculous to claim that providing the commission with 
this additional, and indeed very necessary, power will corrupt its independence. It has not in the past and I do not 
believe it will in the future. 
In relation to the proposed power for unions to electronically record as part of right of entry, unions have a legitimate 
role to play in investigating suspected breaches of industrial laws and work health and safety laws and taking 
enforcement action when appropriate. The proposed power for unions to electronically record when investigating 
a suspected breach simply recognises twenty-first century technology. It will enable the best possible evidence to 
be contemporaneously captured and preserved. The proposed power will be subject to other relevant laws and 
protections such as the Surveillance Devices Act 1998, which prohibits the intentional recording of private conversations 
or activities; work health and safety laws that place obligations on visitors to a workplace; and intellectual property 
rights. The commission will be able to deal with disputes regarding the power to electronically record under section 44 
of the IR act. That is a compulsory conference. 
Much has been said, not necessarily today, but in the other place and indeed the last time the bill was before the 
house, on the issue of entry into a workplace that is also a private residence by union officials or industrial inspectors. 
I think a lot of what has been said is merely scaremongering. A workplace can be found in a private residence. The 
increasing incidence of home-based work cannot be denied. The bill seeks to place parameters around entry into 
these workplaces by union officials or industrial inspectors. There will be no automatic right of entry by a union 
official into an employer’s private residence. The union official will have to apply to the commission for an order 
granting entry and the commission could make an order only if satisfied that exceptional circumstances exist to 
warrant the making of the order. In deciding whether to make the order, the commission would hear from both the 
union official and the employer. 

Industrial inspectors will have entry rights without notice if there is an industry being carried on at the premise. 
This is the current law. The bill will not change this. There is no evidence of inspectors ever having exercised this 
power, let alone misusing it. Inspectors will also have entry rights without notice if they obtain an order from the 
commission. The commission must be satisfied that giving notice would defeat the purpose for which the power 
is intended to be exercised. Evidence will have to be led to justify the making of the order. The commission will 
not make these orders arbitrarily or in a vacuum. 

One of the most significant amendments delivered by this bill will be the removal of exclusions from the definition 
of “employee” in the Industrial Relations Act and the Minimum Conditions of Employment Act. By removing 
these exclusions, statutory employment protections will be extended to all employees in WA and we can play our 
part in tackling the scourge of modern slavery. 
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Importantly, as has been pointed out, it will enable the commonwealth government to ratify the International Labour 
Organization’s Protocol of 2014 to the Forced Labour Convention, 1930. There have been complaints from some 
quarters, including the Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia that a consequence of this proposed 
amendment will be to require household employers to keep employment records. On this, I am advised that household 
employers must currently keep employment-related records for their employees. They must keep income tax and 
superannuation records, comply with the Australian Taxation Office single touch payroll requirements, facilitate 
the payment of paid parental leave to an employee entitled to leave under the commonwealth parental leave pay 
scheme and keep workers’ compensation insurance records. 

Household employers must also keep records relating to long service leave. This is because the Long Service Leave Act 
has always applied to employees who are engaged in domestic service in a private residence. I will set out these 
record-keeping requirements so that members will understand that the record-keeping requirements for household 
employers are not new. For the purposes of the LSL act, a household employer must currently keep a record of the 
employee’s name, date of birth, the employee’s start and finish dates, gross and net amounts paid to the employee, 
all deductions from the employee’s pay, all leave taken by the employee and all other details that are necessary 
to calculate an employee’s entitlement to long service leave. This includes the hours of work performed by the 
employee. A requirement for employers to keep employment records has existed since enactment of the LSL act 
in 1958. At the time of debate on that bill, the then opposition unsuccessfully argued for the exclusion of domestic 
workers from the definition of “employee”. Mr George Roberts, MLA, stated — 

I say that it is literally impossible for the records required by this Bill to be kept by the average housewife … 

This cannot be the attitude of the Parliament in 2021. Many software packages are readily available for household 
employers to use for record-keeping purposes. My department also publishes free employment record templates, 
which all employers can download and use to keep the required records. It should also be borne in mind that if 
union officials or industrial inspectors do have entry rights into a workplace that is also a private residence, they do 
not have powers of forcible entry. The bill balances privacy concerns with the need to ensure adequate protections 
for employees, regardless of their place of work. 

I will leave my contribution there. I know that when we get to committee, there will be comprehensive questioning 
of me. 

I commend the bill to the house. 

Question put and passed. 

Bill read a second time. 

Committee 

The Deputy Chair of Committees (Hon Steve Martin) in the chair; Hon Stephen Dawson (Minister for Industrial 
Relations) in charge of the bill. 

Clause 1: Short title — 

The DEPUTY CHAIR: I bring to members’ attention supplementary notice paper 53, issue 2, which contains 
a number of amendments.  
Hon NICK GOIRAN: I will just start with the issue of consultation and the response the minister provided to 
our proposal that the bill be discharged and referred to the Standing Committee on Legislation and also his remarks 
in the second reading reply. On both those occasions the minister touched on the process of consultation that had 
been embarked on by the government. I do not want to conflate the consultation process on the bill with the review 
process. The opposition absolutely accepts that the genesis of this bill was the two reviews, which were extensive 
processes. The minister reiterated the number of submissions that had been provided to those reviews. The 
contention is not that the reviews lacked consultation; the contention is that the bill before us will implement some 
of the review recommendations but not all, and that it deviates from other recommendations. As a result of that 
qualified implementation of, and deviation from, the review recommendations, the opposition thinks it would have 
been appropriate to have some form of consultation about the bill. What consultation has occurred on the bill? 
That is not to be confused with the review process. 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I do confuse the two, honourable member, because the genesis of the legislation before 
us was those reviews. The former minister obviously undertook a great number of meetings on the legislation, but 
in terms of the bill before us, my office and I have had meetings with the Western Australian Local Government 
Association, which included the WALGA president, CEO, executive manager of governance and organisational 
services, and employee relations services manager. We also had meetings with the Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry of Western Australia, which included CEO Chris Rodwell and chief economist Aaron Morey. There were 
meetings with the Master Builders Association’s executive director John Gelavis and Cathryn Greville, the head 
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of legal, advocacy and professional services. There have also been meetings with UnionsWA and, indeed, unions 
over the past few months at which this issue was raised and we consulted on it. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: I thank the minister; that is useful. Just to confirm: was the consultation process with the 
four groups the minister identified—WALGA, the Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia, the 
Master Builders Association and UnionsWA—undertaken with the benefit of a drafted bill? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: They had the old bill; they did not have the new bill because the consultation happened 
before a bill went to cabinet. The issues that were raised were those that the member identified today in his 
contribution as being of concern and ones that they were unhappy with. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: The consultation process with the four groups occurred on the old bill—that is, the 2020 bill. 
They did not have the benefit of the bill that is currently before us. That said, the bill before us is somewhat different 
from the earlier bill. Does the bill before us address any of the concerns of the four groups; and, if so, which ones? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Where there were concerns raised by the union movement or, indeed, the employer 
groups, no changes were made. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: In other words, all the concerns that were raised in the four consultation meetings were 
rejected by the government and there has been no change. 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Essentially, in the main, the concerns raised were raised with government about the 
previous bill. Government made a decision not to change the bill at that stage, and government made a commitment 
at the election that we would bring forward a bill again. There was consultation about Easter Sunday, in particular, 
with the Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia, and the CCI expressed some concern about 
Easter Sunday becoming a public holiday, but, again, government had made a policy decision and a commitment 
at the election that we would create an Easter Sunday public holiday. Although we heard from the CCI on its concerns 
around that issue, government had already made a decision to proceed with it. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: Can we therefore describe it this way then, minister: the only new concern that was raised 
was about the proposed Easter Sunday holiday. Were no new concerns or otherwise raised that had not already 
been raised about the 2020 bill? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: No. I am reminded by the advisers that the other issue the CCI raised was a concern 
about the course of conduct in the context of the penalties. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: Regarding the course of conduct and penalties, what exactly is the concern that has been 
articulated to government by the CCI on that? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: The CCIWA raised a concern and contended that the bill should contain course of 
conduct provisions like the Fair Work Act so that multiple contraventions that arise out of a course of conduct by 
a person are taken to be a single contravention. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: Presumably, the government does not agree with that, otherwise there would be an amendment 
in the bill. What is the government’s concern about the concern from the CCI? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: The member is correct; government has not included amendments to the bill on this 
issue. Although the bill does not contain course of conduct provisions, the Industrial Magistrates Court applies 
common law course of conduct principles in the setting of penalties, as set out in the recent appeal decision of 
Janine Callan v Garth Smith, 2021 101 WAIG 1155. The common law provides the court flexibility in setting penalties 
rather than being constrained by statutory provisions, which do not allow for any discretion. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: Minister, the Ritter review’s second recommendation, found on page 8 of the final report, 
dated June 2018, states that the amended Industrial Relations Act is to be reviewed after three years of operation. 
Which clause in the bill gives effect to this recommendation? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: We did not pick up that recommendation; we picked up 41 recommendations from 
the Ritter review, so not all of the recommendations were acted upon. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: Minister, this would be a pretty non-contentious one, though. The Ritter review recommended 
that the act be reviewed after three years of operation, but it is one of the recommendations that the government 
did not pick up on. What is the objection to it?  
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: We are now amending the current act. A range of other Ritter review recommendations 
are under consideration by the government. We may come forward in the future with further changes to the act, 
but a final decision on that has not been made as yet. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: Sure, but this particular recommendation would probably be the least complex of all the 
Ritter recommendations. He says that government should review the act three years after the amendment act becomes 
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operational. I understand that the government has not accepted this, but why will the government not accept such 
a basic recommendation? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: It is a recommendation that the government had not decided to accept at this stage. 
It could in the future, but we did not accept it at this stage. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: I understand that, minister. Again, there is no contention. I agree that the government has 
not accepted the recommendation and I agree that it is not found in the bill, but the government should provide an 
explanation as to why, not just that it decided not to. Why did it decide not to? 
Hon Stephen Dawson: The government decided it was not necessary, honourable member, so it was not proceeded 
with. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: Okay. It is pretty unusual. Of all of the things to take issue with, it surprises me that the 
one thing the government wants to dig in on is not having a review in three years’ time. It is not even a proposal that 
has come from the opposition. 
Hon Stephen Dawson: There was never an opposition expressed to it; we just did not move on that recommendation. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: Is it an oversight? 
Hon Stephen Dawson: No, it is not, because I am told by advisers here that it was not necessary. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: It is a deliberate, purposeful decision by the McGowan Labor government to say, “We won’t 
be implementing recommendation 2 of Mr Ritter to review the act after three years of operation.” 
Hon Stephen Dawson: At this stage. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: That is the very review that is the genesis of the bill that is before us. It is very strange stuff, 
minister. I suspect what has happened here is that the minister has inherited this from his predecessor, and had 
he had carriage from day one, we would see recommendation 2 of the Ritter review being implemented right 
now. But we now have to deal with the legacy of the ham-fisted effort from the previous Parliament, and we find 
that something as basic as that has not been implemented. Nevertheless, I thank the minister for the honest feedback 
on Mr Ritter’s second recommendation that it simply has not been accepted at this stage by the government. 
One wonders whether it will ever be accepted and implemented, least of all in circumstances whereby there is no 
explanation about why it is not being implemented at this time. 
We are indeed amending the Industrial Relations Act by virtue of this bill. Can the Western Australian Industrial 
Relations Commission currently issue summonses for witnesses to appear before it? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: For the general jurisdiction, yes, it can. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: What gives the commission the power to do that? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Section 33 of the act. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: That is the general jurisdiction. Are there other jurisdictions in the commission? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Yes, there are. There is the Public Service Appeal Board and the Public Service Arbitrator. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: The minister has said that the Public Service Appeal Board and the Public Service Arbitrator 
are the two other jurisdictions that exist in the commission other than the general jurisdiction. Can witness summonses 
be issued in those jurisdictions? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: The arbitrator can, but the Public Service Appeal Board is under a cloud. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: I do not know that it is under a cloud, though, minister. 
Hon Stephen Dawson: My words not the adviser’s words. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: I think the Attorney General has been most helpful to make sure that there are no cloudy 
conditions and that we have a very sunny forecast. It is very, very clear, I think, that pursuant to his intervention, 
there is no power to do so. 
Were any such summonses issued by the Public Service Appeal Board in the last financial year? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: No, not in the last financial year, honourable member. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: Is the minister very sure, that in the 2020–21 financial year—the last financial year—no 
summonses were issued? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: My advisers tell me that that was the advice from the registrar. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: I have information here that PSAB 4 of 2020 indicates that two witness summonses were 
served in December 2020 and January 2021. 
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Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I am told we will have to raise that with the registrar. It may well be that I might 
need to give an apology to the house. To the best of my knowledge, I have answered a parliamentary question over 
the past few months on this issue based on the information that was provided by the registrar. I will not get it now, 
but at a later stage, if I need to apologise to the house and retract that, I certainly shall do that. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: I would appreciate that, and certainly if it could be done overnight, because I note that we 
will be due to adjourn proceedings — 
Hon Stephen Dawson: Don’t you think we’ll finish before 6.20 pm? 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: There will be no chance, unfortunately, because—for the benefit of Hansard—we are on 
clause 1 of a massive bill of 129 clauses. I do not think we will get through the other 128 clauses in the next 10 minutes. 
Hon Stephen Dawson: We live in hope, honourable member! 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: That is least of all unlikely when on 18 November, in response to a question I asked of the 
minister, the minister said, in part — 

There have been no summonses issued in proceedings before the board in the last financial year. 
Yet I have information available that indicates in PSAB 4 of 2020, two witness summonses were served, one in 
December 2020 and one in January 2021. The minister has kindly agreed to take that on notice. 
Hon Stephen Dawson: Are you in a position to table that document? 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: No; this is a confidential document, but suffice to say, I am sure that if the minister speaks 
to people in his office, they will be well aware of this information. 
Hon Stephen Dawson: My ministerial office is not aware of it. You’ve given us PSAB 4. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: Maybe the minister needs to ask his ministerial office staff again whether they know anything 
about PSAB 2 of 2015, when one witness summons was issued; PSAB 9 of 2017, when seven summonses were 
issued; PSAB 3 of 2019, when one witness summons was issued; PSAB 16 of 2019, when two witness summonses 
were issued; the one I have just referred to, PSAB 4 of 2020, when two witness summonses were issued; and then, 
of course, PSAB 22 of 2016, when four witnesses were summonsed and served. There will be plenty of time for 
the minister to interrogate his staff and anyone else who might be well aware of this information, including those 
who might have been participating in the drafting of the response to question without notice 1013, which I asked 
in this place on 18 November 2021. If the minister could take that on notice overnight and let us know tomorrow, 
that will be tremendous. 
I note that recommendation 81(i) to (n) on page 31 of the Ministerial review of the state industrial relations system: 
Final report deals with local governments moving into the state industrial relations systems. The minister kindly 
touched on that briefly in his second reading reply speech. Recommendation 81 says — 

(i) WALGA and large local governments favour remaining in the Federal system and point to 
disruptions if they were moved to the State system. 

(j) Unions support the move into the State system because, in part, of the Federal Local Government 
Industry Award 2010 being inferior to interim State awards, a desire to use the State agreement 
making system and a preference for the State system generally. 

(k) The most legally certain process to move local governments to the State system is to use the 
process outlined in s 14(2) of the FW Act; to pass legislation that declares each local government 
not to be a national system employer. To be legally effective under s 14 of the FW Act however, 
the responsible Commonwealth Minister must endorse the declaration. 

(l) The process described in (k) is inherently political, may take some time and is not guaranteed to 
be successful. 

(m) Whilst as part of the State body politic, it could be argued, that local governments should be part 
of the State industrial relations system, there may be pragmatic reasons why the Government may 
not wish, now, to attempt to proceed with the process that would, if successful create legal certainty 
and enshrine local government within the State system. 

(n) Whether, in all these circumstances the Government wishes to attempt, at this time, to proceed 
to move local governments to the State system is ultimately a political question, having regard 
to all of the above. 

Given recommendation 81(i) to (n) set out in the Ritter review’s final report and noting the lack of support from 
the Western Australian Local Government Association for this move, why does the government intend to proceed 
with this move? 
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Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: As I partly indicated in my second reading reply speech, local governments are part 
of the body politic of the state. They are established under Western Australian law and carry out functions of 
a governmental nature, so the government thinks it is therefore appropriate that they be regulated by WA laws, 
rather than laws that emanate from Canberra. As identified in the ministerial review, there is significant legal doubt 
on whether local governments can be characterised as trading or financial corporations, and until the High Court 
has ruled on this point, there will be ongoing uncertainty. Local governments in Queensland, New South Wales and 
South Australia operate under their state’s industrial relations system with the commonwealth’s support, and we 
think the same should occur in Western Australia. 
In my contribution earlier, I also commented on the Barnett government decision in 2012 to include remuneration 
of chief executive officers of local governments in the state system so that the Salaries and Allowances Tribunal could 
make determinations on that remuneration. We believe if it is good enough for the bosses, the CEOs of councils, 
it is good enough for the workers, and we certainly support this decision wholeheartedly. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: We will come back to that issue tomorrow. On union right of entry to people’s homes, the 
minister touched on a restriction in the Surveillance Devices Act and seemed to indicate that that would be some form 
of protection. I am very much paraphrasing the minister; these are some comments he made in his second reading 
reply speech. But, effectively, on that topic, the minister was encouraging us not to be too concerned about this provision 
because any use of those types of devices would still be subject to the regulation of the Surveillance Devices Act. 
Are there any exceptions or exemptions under that act that would militate against that issue? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I am told that the intentional recording and publication of private conversations or 
activities is captured by the Surveillance Devices Act 1998. If it  is unintentional, it will not be captured. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: In other words, if a unionist says that they unintentionally recorded a private conversation, 
they are not bound by the act? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: No; it just might not be an offence under the act. 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: They might be able to do it, but they are not committing an offence against the act. There 
would be no protection for those—employer or employee—who are the subject of the private conversation, though. 
The unionist can just come along and say, “I unintentionally recorded that private conversation and you can’t charge 
me, so up your jumper.” Is that basically the attitude of the government with regard to this matter? 
Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: The government would certainly never say to anybody, “Up your jumper”, 
honourable member. 

Progress reported and leave granted to sit again, on motion by Hon Stephen Dawson (Minister for Industrial 
Relations). 
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